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THE BELLE FRY GAINES HOUSE
313 West Austin
Marshall, Texas

By Max S. Lale

One of the most elegant of the early-postbellum houses remaining in Mar-
shall is The Belle Fry Gaines House at 313 West Austin, built soon after 1875
as a wedding gift to John R. Stinson and his bride, Sallie (Sally) R. Callaway
Stinson.l This is a two-story house with a double gallery running the entire
width of the formal front facade, located directly across the street north of
The Fry-Barry House at 310 West Austin, a Recorded Texas Historical Landmark
which has been nomlnated to the Department of the Interior for listing on the
National Register of Historic Place8.2 Because it was occupied almost con-
timously from its purchase in 1909 until her death on Jamuary 9, 1978, by Mrs.
Belle Gaines, the house has come to be known by her name rather than for its
association with its original owners.

Originally occupying, with its support structures, the entire west half
(Lots 1, 2, 3 and L) of Block 42 of the Original Townsite (OT) of Marshall, the
house was provided with a barn, gardens and other appurtenances usual to its
period.3 It now stands on a portion of Lots 3 and L, facing south on Austin
at the intersection of Austin and Fulton.

John R. Stinson,wéfth his wife/[wb&ﬁ; original owner of the house, was born
in 1849 on his fat-her's farm two miles southeast of the courthouse square in
Marshall ((ﬁo: longwg'ince within the corporate limits of the city), the son of
Samel and Cynthia Baker Stinson. Samuel Stinson, a native of Smith County,

Tennessee, had immigrated to Harrison County with his brother David Stinson



in 184Li. Soonm after Johm R. Stimsom's birth, the family moved to Marshall, a
move which may have coincided with aﬁ?{gctated by Sammel Stinsom's electiom
as Harrisom County Clerk, from which positiom he resigned a year before his
death in 1854, Johm R. Stinson's mother, a mative of Mississippi, came to
Harrison County with her pareants in the early 1840s. Shortly after her hus-
band's death, she bought a home im Marshall which "comprised practically the
block bounded by Austin, Fultom, Rusk and Framklin Streets." This is the same
block or the west half of which the John R. Stinsom home was built after the
Stinson-Calloway marriage on September 1, 1875.

. In his youth, Stinsoa "had the advantage of beimg a pupil im ome of the
best schools in this part of Texas at that time.® This was the school "im
charge of Prof. Morgan H. Loomey, at Gilmer, im which a mumber of promineat
Texas characters were educated." His first business experience was as a clerk
in a store in Marshall, beginning im 1869, in which position he comtimued un-
til he opened his own mercantile establishment, eventually retiring from bus-
iness im 1902, He served one term as mayor of Hurshall.h

John R. Stinson had come into possession of am undivided ome-half interest
in the west half of Block L2, OT, at the time of his mother's death im 1868,
so that he was a part owner of the property occupied by The Belle Fry Gaines
House at the time of his marriage. The 1880 census in Harrisom County showed
that Sallie Stinsom was 23 years old at that time, indicatimg that she was
born in 1857 and was 18 years old when she married John R. Stinson, himself
26 years old when m.r:r.’:.ed.5 It seems likely that until the completion of



their new home the young couple occupied the home formerly occupied by Mrs.
Satmel Stinsom (amd presumably John R. Stimson) until her death. This house
faced Rusk Street at the morth emd of the half-block owmed by Mrs. Stinsom
and on the south end of whick the couple buillt their homs.6 Substance is
given to this comjecture by a published biographical statement that ®"im this
block, John R. Stinson has ever since made his home."7

Although The Belle Fry Gaimes House has been enlarged by the addition
of a bedroom and bathroom at the rear of the first floor and by the imcorper-
ation imto the structure of the originally-detached kitchem, the house as
built remains remarkably unchanged and im a surprisimgly good state of repair.
With four columms capped by stome Iomic capitals supportimg each level of
the banistered double gallery, it presemts to the passerby am air of formality awd
graciousness which is carried imto the imterior through a stately doorway and
an entramce hall with a curved stairway sweeping to the secomd floor. Ome
dormer ormaments the rooflime above the second-floor gallery. An ummsual de-
tail is a wood-block framing resembling cut stome in which are set the double
doors, sidelights and transom of the froat emtrance.

The hallway measures 12 by 21 feet, occupied on the west side in part by
the stairway which rises with two gently curving 90-degree turms to the second
floor. The newel post, banisters amd rail are original. The ceiling, as are
all others in the house, is 12 feet high. Now papered, the ceiling apparently
was board and batten originally, as the other ceilings are, because the second-
floor ceiling exposed by the stair well is of this design. The floor of the
eatrance hall is of five-inch pine boards.



On the left of the entramce hall is a formal parlor measurimg 18 x 22
feet. Its principal features are a fireplace with marble facing and manﬂy\
and a large bay on the west side in which are set three tall windows .8 The
baseboards are 12 inches high and finished with a typical ormamentatiom of the
period. The ceilimg is board and batten with a border of ormamental wood-
work similar to but distinctive from those im the other rooms of the house,
each slightly different in design. The room is lighted by a massive char-
delier (amtique but not origimal to the house).

Behind (north of) this reom is a dining room measuring 1l x 25 feet, sim-
ilar in design and ceilimg ornamentatiom to the parlor. It likewise has 12
inch baseboards but does not have a fireplace as in the case of the parlor.
This room also is lighted by an amtique chamrdelier which is less massive than
that in the parlor.

On the east side of the groumd floor hallway is a room measuring 18 x 18
feet which may have been used originmally either as a famlly room or as a bed-
room.9 As have the other rooms described above, the door to this room has its
original hardware. The principal feature of this room is a recessed double
window on the east wall. The fireplace im this room, also originslly marble,
was "modernized™ by a brick facimng and hearth and a wood mantlf\and chimmey
facing which was comstructed imn the 19308 by Lee Scott, a cabimetmaker and
joiner who was moted throughout Northeast Texas for his eraftsmanship.lo This
room has the same 1l2-inch baseboards preseamt in the rooms described earlier.

At the rear (morth) of this room are a bathroom and bedroom added "about



75 years ago." This addition was made when it became necessary for Mr. and
Mrs. Stinson to take into their home an infant relativa.ll The woodwork is
Victorian in design, featuring circular carvings at the imtersection of the
vertical and horizontal facings, and is less massive than that in the original
portions of the house.

With the imcorporatiom imto the structure of the origimally-detached
kitchen, additional pantry space, a breakfast room and closets were construct-
ed, and kitchen fixtures modern at that time were installed.

The stairway opens on the secomd floor imto a hallway which measures 10 x
22 feet from which there is access to three bedrooms, all original.ﬁo ?he
house, and a bathroom added later by reducing the size of #he twofbedro ms/hﬁkA
it divides. A door opems on the south end of the hall to the secomd-floor
gallery.

The bedroom on the east side measures 18 x 20 feet and has a fireplace
served by the same chimmey which serves the fireplace im the room directly
below it on the groumd floor. This room has five long windows. The door is
fitted with the origimal box latch amd chima kmobs characteristie of elaborate
homes of the period.

The bedroom on the west side (front) is similar, except that a moderm ocak
floor has been installed over the original floorimg. It likewise has its or-
iginal door hardware and china kmobs.

At the rear (morth) of this room is a third bedroom measuring 12 x 18
feet (the smaller size is accounted for by the space incorporated into a bath-
room). It likewise is origimal, with the 12-inch baseboards, 12-foot ceiling,

original hardware and other detailing common to the remaimder of the house. It



will be seen that, from tke fact there are two bedrooms om the west side of
the house and only ome on the east, the secomd floor was designed (and remaims)
L-shaped, as was the ground floor before the additiom of a bedroom amd bath-
room on the east side of the house.

Stinson and his wife apparently built their home with a degree of confi-
dence that their umndivided ome-half imterest im its half-block locatiorn would
not be challenged, for it was not until 1909, when the house was sold to Wal-
ter D. Minton, that court actiomn finally divided the property, Lots 3 and L
to Stimsom and Lots 1 and 2 to other relatives.lz Minton had beer married omn
November 26, 190L, to Isabelle (Belle) Fry, youngest of seven childrem of Mr.
and Mrs. E. J. Fry, who had lived since 1872 in the Fry home (now designated
The Fry-Barry House) across the street. The locatiom of the house undoubtedly
was a factor im its selection five years later as the Minton family hcme.]'3
If so, the choice must have beern a happy ome, for Mrs. Fry, Mrs. Minton's moth-
er, lived uatil 1918, amd Mr. Fry umtil 1927, so that she was mear her parents
for some time afterward. And she contimmed to live across the street from her
father for eight years after Walter Mimtom's death on November 8, ].918,1h when
he became one of the early victims im Marshall of the worldwide influenza epi-
demic which coincided with the emd of World War I.ls By this time Mrs. Minton
was the mother of two daughters, Margaret Isabel and Mary Irvime, both of whom
remember with pleasure visiting their grandparents! home across the street and
Playing during raimy weather under the cover afforded by the raised cottage
design of the Fry house.l6



Minton was a member of a Virginia family which had come to Marshall to
work for the T&P railroade He likewise worked for the railroad for a time ,17
and later operated a grocery store at the cornmer of Houstom and Edwards streets
and still later was a salesman for the mew automobiles which were becoming a«
vailable to the gemeral public in the last few years before his deathe The
Minton childrem were twelve and four at their father's death.

Mrs. Mintom remained single umtil October 20, 1923, when she was married
to E. P. Gaines, a Texas Railroad Commission employee who came to Marshall from
Clarksville. He lived only 3 years, however, and the former Isabelle Fry was
again a widow for the second time im 10 years. By this time, the duplex apart-
ment house had been comstructed which now occupies, in part, the area om the
property originally occupied by a barm on the east side of the honse. Mrs.
Perry Harkins, the former Mary Irvine Mintom, recalls that the family were liv-
ing in one of the apartments whem her step-father died.18 Mrs. Gaines and her
younger daughter and husband of onme year returmed to The Belle Fry Gainmes House
to live in 1933, the year which marked the bottom of the Great Depression.19

Mrs. Gaines shortly opened an antique business in her home which she cone
timed to operate until shortly befere her death or Jarmary 9, 1978. Going
imto business was not imtentiomal, she was quoted as sayimg in a newspaper in-
terview on her 91st birthday,zo adding that it all began as a hobby when she
furnished her apartment next door to the Stimsom house. Her decisiom to go
into the business on a full scale came durimg the boom days of the East Texas
oil field in neighborimg Gregg County. "First thing I kmew, I was in business
in a big way," she said. For many years she and her daughters made semi-anmal
trips to New England to buy for the amtique shop imn Mrs. Gaimes' home.



Mrs. Gaires deeded The Belle Fry Gaimes House im 1959 to her daughters,
Mrs. Jack Walker and Mrs. Perry Harkins, but she comtimmed to live and to op-
erate her antique business in the house until failimg health required that she
be placed in a mursing home shortly before her death.

The house was surveyed for the National Register of Histeric Places om
April L, 1978, by Stanley Klein and Barry Wagmer of the Texas Histerical Com-
mission.

Now on the market for sale, The Belle Fry Gaimes House is a magnificent
example of its architectural period. Its quietly stated charm, the few alter-
ations vwhich have been made to it in the past century, and its association
with and proximity to the family and home of E. J. Fry, all recommend it for
designation as a Recorded Texas Historic Lamdmark.

June 16, 1978
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Taterview with Mrs. Ruby Wood Boone, Jume 5, 1978. Mrs. Stimson amrd Mrs.
Boone's mother were sisters, the daughters of Mr. and Mrs. Joe Callaway.
Mrs. Boore, mow 86 and in full possession of her memtal faculties, recalls
from her parents that her grandfather Callaway also built as a wedding
present to her own parents, several years after the Stinson house was
built, the home in which she still resides at 215 East Rusk im Marshall.
Both houses, Mrs. Boone recalls, were built by a contractor named Fortsom.
Mrs. Boone's paremts were Mr. amd Mrs. S. E. Wood.

See the approved marker application for the Fry-Barry House in the files
of the Texas Historical Commissiom, Austim, Texas.

See the accompanying photograph, taken some time prior to 1927, which
shows a barnm still stamding to the northeast of the house at that time.
On a portiom of the lamd occupled by this barm Mrs. Gaimes built on Lot L
directly east of her home, a brick duplex apartment house which still
stands. The lots in Block L2 are numbered coumter-clockwise, 1 though 8,
beginning at the morthwest cormer of the blocke

The biographical imformation im the above paragraphs is from Vol. 5,

TEXAS AND TEXANS, published in 191}, a typed copy of which is in the Stim-
son family file in the archives of the Harrison County Historical Museum
in Marshall.

This census informationm was extracted by Virgimia Lee Stimson Lans, 2100
Laurel Lane, Altavista, Virginia, and is recorded in the archives of the
Harrison County Histerical Museum on the same sheet, dated April 6, 1971,
with the abstract from TEXAS AND TEXANS. Shown in the household by the
1880 cenmsus emumeratiom were John R. Stimson, 31; Sallie R. Stimson, 23;
Anna M. [Maudgl Stimsom, four; Robert L. Stinsom, mine months; and "Three
servants.® Anna Maude apparemtly had died before the 191k publicatioa
of the John R. Stinsom biographical sketch in TEXAS AND TEXANS, for it
noted that "In 1908 he had the misfortume to lose his wife, who before
her marriage was Miss Sally Callaway o « » Their only child is Robert
Lee Stinson.™

Interview, Mrs. Inez Hughes, director of the Harrison County Historical
Museum, May 22, 1978.

TEXAS AND TEXANS, op. cit.

For many years, Mrs. Gaines displayed a large Christmas tree, decorated
only with blue lights, in this bay. This tree became a "must™ for many
residents om their drives about the city during the Christmas season
to view the Yuletide decorations.
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Mrs. Boone recalls that "Uncle John and Aunt Sallie lived dowmstairs in the
wintertime and moved upstairs i.rfhe summertime.® Interview, op. cit.

Lee Scott comstructed the altar in Trinity Episcopal Church, Marshall.
Boone interview, op. cit.

See Apperdix A for complete chaim of ownershipe.

Fry-Barry House marker application, op. cite.

E. J. Fry family Bible in the possession of Mrs. Perry Harkims, 1000 East
Austin, Marshall, Texas.

The Marshall News Messemger, April 20, 1975.

Interview, Mrs. Perry Harkins, Jume 2, 1978.
The Marshall News Messemger, April 20, 1975.

Harkins interview, op. cit.

Tbid.

The Marshall News Messenger, April 20, 1975.
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Appendix A
CHAIN OF OWNERSHEIP

Surveyor to Peter Whetstone, LL428 acres, Certificate
No. 100/199, surveyed by John S. Ford, issued by Shel-
by Coumty Lard Commissiomers February 12, 1838, dated
March 8, 1838, filed March 8, 1838, Vol. F, page L7,
Harrison County Surveyor Records.

Republic of Texas to Peter Whetstome, 25 labors of land,
dated August 13, 1845, filed Jume 16, 1847, Vol. F, page
160, Deed Records of Harrisom County.

Dicy Whetstone, admimistratrix of the estate of Peter
Whetstore, to William Davemport, Lots 1, 2, 3, L, 5, 6,

7 and 8, Block L2, Marshall, Texas, $32, dated March 22,
18L)y, filed April 2, 18LL, Vol. C, page 145, Deed Records
of Harrisom County.

William Davenmport to Mrs. Amanda Ward, Block 42, $100,
dated December 2k, 184k, filed April 19, 1845, Vol. D,
page 134, Deed Records of Harrisomn County.

Mrs. Amanda Ward was married Jamuary 7, 18L5, to Andrew
Allen, Vol. 1, page 112, Harrison County Marriage Records.

Andrew Allem, et ux, to Nelson Trawiek, Block L2, $500,
dated February 22, 1848, filed March L, 1848, Vol. F,
page Li21, Deed Records of Harrisom County.

Nelsom Trawick to William R. D, Ward amd James B. Wilson,
Lots 1, 2, 3 and L, Block 42, $375, dated June 17, 1850,

filed Jamuwary 3, 1851, Vol. J, pagd 2L2, Deed Records of

Harrison County.

W. Re D, Ward and J. B. Wilson to Sewell Norris, Lots 1,
2, 3 amd L, Block 42, $570 payable by note om Jammary 1,
1852, dated November 1, 1850, filed Jamuary 3, 1851, Deed
Records of Harrison County.

S. Norris, et ux, to W. R. D. Ward, Lots 1, 2, 3 and L,
Block L2, $570 cash, dated December 30, 1851, filed
December 30, 1851, Deed Records of Harrisom County.

W. Re Do Ward to C. Ao S‘binson, Lots 1, 2, 3 and h,
Block 42, $1,000 "cash in hand paid," dated February 9,
1855, filed Jume 13, 1862, Vol. T, page 288, Deed
Records of Harrisom County.
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(Mrs. C. A. Stinsor imherited on the death of her husbard. M. M. McPhail was
appointed administrator or Jamary 21, 1870, after the death of Mrs. Stinson.
Citation to sell the west half of Block L2 was posted August 16, 1873, at Jomes-
ville, Hallsville and at the courthouse in Marshall: "Whereas Jokr R. Stinsom,
william G. Hazen and his wife Fannmie M. Hazam and S. Ella Stimsom, residents

of Harrison County, have filed in the office of the district clerk of Harrisom
County their petition asking for the sale of real estate belonging to the es-
tate of C. A. Stinson, deceased, to wit: the west half of Block 42, im the City
of Marshall, to satisfy a mortgage given by C. A. Stinson in his lifetime %o
David Stinson as trustee for said petitiomers; that said mortgage has mot beem
paid and that the same has been deuly probated and allowed by the administrata
of C. A. Stinson's estate to wit, by M. M. McPhail, administrator.")

Administrator's Deed M. M. McPhail to Johm R. Stimsom, west half of Block L2,
$1750, dated February 28, 187L, filed May 5, 187k, one-
half uadivided imterest, Vol. 2, page 518, Deed Records
of Harrison Countye.

Administrator's Deed M. M. McPhail to Johmn R. Stinsonm, undivided one=half in-
terest in the west half of Block 42, $150, dated Jan-
vary 8, 1879, filed April 29, 1879, original papers.

Inventory and Ap- The west half of Block L2, a "homestead,™ valued at
praisal $1200, filed April 29, 1879, origimal papers.
Warranty Deed Will G. Hazem, Fannie M. Hazem and S. Ella Stinsom, to

John R. Stinsom, undivided ome-half imterest in the west
half of Block L2, $875 cash, dated July 30, 1874, filed
August 1, 187k, Vol. 2, page 727, Deed Records of Har-
rison County.

Warranty Deed Sam J. Burton to John R. Stimsom, "™undivided interest
in Tote 1, 2, 3 and L, Block L2, dated August 10, 1878,
filed August 12, 1878, $126, Vol. 8, page 152, Deed
Records of Harrison County.

Judgment, District Certified copy in abstract of title, John R. Stimson vs
Court of Harrisom Lee Stinsom, et al, No. 52Li, dated February 12, 1909,
County filed February 13, 1909, decreeing a partition between

said parties of Lots 1, 2, 3 and kL, Block 42, "and the
improvements thereom, commissioners set apart to J ohn
R. Stinson Lots 3 and li and the two story house and barn
and all improvements thereon, free from the claims aad
interest of Lee Stimson, Jennie Stimson and Sallie Jer-
nigan, valuing same at thesum of $6,000 . .." Vol. 68,
page 13L, Deed Records of Harrison County.



Warranty Deed John R. Stimsomn to Walter D. Mintom, Jr., dated Feb-
ruary 16, filed February 17, 1909, Lots 3 and L, Block

L2, $6,000, Vol. 68, page 138, Deed Records of Harrisom
County.

(Walter D. Minton, Jr., died November 8, 1918. Mrs. Minton was appointed ad-
ministratrix of the estate. W. L. Barry, Mrs. Minton's brother-in-law, was

appointed guardiam of the estates of Margaret Isabel Minton, 1k, and Mary Ir-
vine Minton, 6.)

Guardian's Deed We L. Barry to Mrs. Belle Mintor, undivided half-interest
in Lots 3 and L, $1650, dated Jume 6, 1921, filed Jume 7,
1921, Vol. 119, page 581, Deed Records of Harrisom County.

Marriage E. P. Gaines amd Mrs. Belle Fry Mintom, October 20, 1923,
Vol. 23, page 187, Marriage Records of Harrisor County.

(E. P. Gaines died April 20, 1927.)

Warranty Deed Belle Fry Gaimes to Margaret Minton Walker amd Mary Ir=-
vine Harkims, Lots 3 amd L, Block 4j2, as their separate
property and estate and for their own separate use and
benefit, "love and affection," dated December 8, 1959,

filed Jamuary 7, 1960, Vol. 536, page 541, Deed Records
of Harrisom County.
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withput posf:, The Belle Fry Gaines House, Marshall, Harrison
County, Texas.

{Miss) Ann Goldman
/ag

SHIP P0: ¥rs. Perry Harkins
1000 Bast Austin
Marshall, Texas 75670



TEXAS RICK PERRY, GOVERNOR
HISTORICAL JOHN L. NAU, III, CHAIRMAN

COMMISSION F. LAWERENCE OAKS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
The State Agency for Historic Preservation

September 11, 2002

Rusty Asaff
Action Realty
1002 E. Grand Avenue
Marshall, TX 75670 ;
e
Re: Belle-Fry-Gaines House, Marshall, Harrison County (RTHL)

Dear Mr. Asaff:

Thank you for contacting our office on August 27, 2002 via telephone regarding the proposed
moving of the Belle-Fry-Gaines House in Marshall. We would like to clarify the regulations that
are associated with the building’s Recorded Texas Historic Landmark designation.

According to the provisions of the Texas Government Code, Chapter 442, Section 442.006(f):

A person may not damage the historical or architectural integrity of a structure the commission
has designated as a Recorded Texas Historic Landmark without notifying the commission at least
60 days before the date on which the action causing the damage is to begin. After receiving the
notice, the commission may waive the waiting period or, if the commission determines thar a
longer period will enhance the chance for preservation, it may require an additional waiting
period of not longer than 30 days. On the expiration of the time limits imposed by this section, the
person may proceed, but must proceed not later than the 180" day after the date on which notice
was given or the notice is considered to have expired.

The commission must be provided notice of the specifics of the proposed work in writing from
the property owner. As we have not received this official notice for the proposed move
(including details about the proposed new location for the house), the waiting period has not yet
begun.

For your reference I am enclosing some materials that describe in more detail the Recorded
Texas Historic Landmark program.

Thank you for your interest in the cultural heritage of Texas. If you have any questions or if we
can be of further assistance, please contact Jeffrey Harris at 512/463-7687.

Yours truly,

1

Jeffrey Harris, Preservation Specialist
for: F. Lawerence Oaks, State Historic Preservation Officer

cc: Margaret O. Agnor, Harrison County Historical Commission
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April 2, 2004

Richard Trimbie
3145 Stanford Avenue
Dallas, Texas 75225

Dear Mr. Trimble:

Members of the Harrison County Historical Commission have noticed that you are doing
construction work on the exterior of your house at 313 West Austin Street in Marshall.

The property, Belle Fry Gaines House, is a Recorded Texas Historic Landmark, the highest honor
the state can bestow on an historic structure. Because it is an historically and architecturally
significant Recorded Texas Historic Landmark, all proposed work to the exterior must undergo
review by the Texas Historical Commission before beginning.

As the owner of a Recorded Texas Historic Landmark-designated structure, you must contact the
Texas Historical Commission before any alterations are made to the exterior of your property.
Unsympathetic changes to your house may result in fines, removal of the designation, and removal
of the historical marker.

As soon as possible, please call the Texas Historical Commission’s area architectural reviewer:
Jeffery Harris, Architectural Reviewer, Department of Architecture, Texas Historical
Commission, 512-632-8750.

Mr. Harris will carefully guide you in whatever work you undertake on your house, help you to
keep the architectural integrity of your property intact, and help you retain the historical designation
and marker on your house.

Thank you for owning and caring for a grand piece of Texas history.

Sincerely,

Margaret Agnor, Chair
Harrison County Historical Commission

Cc: Jeffery Harris, Architectural Reviewer, Texas Historical Commission
Dan Utley, Historical Marker Program, Texas Historical Commission



